
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 

NINTH SESSION 
Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 20: 
Regulation, limitation and balanced reduction of all 

armed forces and all armaments : report of the Dis
armament Commission (continued) 

Page 

Agenda item 68: 129 
Conclusion of an international convention (treaty) on 

the reduction of armaments and the prohibition of 
atomic, hydrogen and other weapons of mass destruc
tion (continued) 

Chairman: Mr. Francisco URRUTIA (Colombia). 

AGENDA ITEl\IS 20 AND 68 

legulation, limitation and balanced reduction of 
all armed forces and all armaments: report of 
the Disarmament Commission (A/2685, A/ 
C.l/751, A/C.l/752/Rev.l) (continued) 

:onclusion of an international convention (treaty) 
on the reduction of armaments and the prohi
bition of atomic, hydrogen and other weapons 
of mass destruction (A/2742 and Corr.l, A/ 
2742/ Add. I, A/C.l/750) (continued) 

The CHAIRMAN (translated from Spanish): 
'he representatives of the following countries are on 
1e list of speakers, which was closed yesterday after
oon: New Zealand, United Kingdom, China, Pakis
m, Chile, Israel, Union of South Africa, Ukrainian 
SR, Mexico, Australia, Brazil, India, Union of Soviet 
ocialist Republics, Lebanon, Indonesia, Byelorussian 
SR, United States of America, Czechoslovakia and 
oland. 

I call upon the representative of New Zealand. 

Mr. MUNRO (New Zealand): The question of 
sarmament is of supreme importance both to this 
ssembly and for all peoples of all countries whether 
1ey have their representatives here or not. 

Our present discussion stems from Article 11 of 
e Charter. This, then, is a constitutional respon
bility as well as a moral one. It rests the more heavily 
)On us because, in the face of the immense and awful 
hievement of atomic science, we have not as yet 
Le success even after eight years of almost continuous 
deavour. 

I wish to begin with a note of very restrained 
,timism. It is indeed refreshing to speak on disarma
~nt in an atmosphere of some expectation, tempered 
:mgh this must be by a proper sense of realism. 

When I put forward the New Zealand point of 
·w in the Disarmament Commission, 26 July 1954 
Oth meeting], the situation was, I think, far dif
~ent. There was no sign then of flexibility on the 

129 

FIRST COMMITTEE, 694tb 
MEETING 

Wednesday, 20 October 1954, 
at 10.30 a.m. 

New York 

part of the Soviet Union. I said at that time that so 
long as this attitude of stony immobility was main
tained, an unbridgeable gap would remain in the way 
of progress towards disarmament since an acceptable 
solution would be achieved only with Soviet co-opera
tion. 

7. But I added these words : 

"In the past, Soviet Union positions on some im
portant matters have changed. Must we despair that 
some day-perhaps soon-the Soviet Union will con
ceive effectively-controlled disarmament to be in its 
own interest, at least as much as in the interest of 
other Powers? Against that day the work of the 
Sub-Committee has not been without value. The pro
posals placed before the Sub-Committee by France, 
the United Kingdom and the United States furnish 
bases upon which the negotiations can be resumed. 

"An acceptable solution has not, unfortunately, 
been agreed upon; but the meeting in private of the 
Powers principally concerned has done something 
to point out, not only the difficulties ahead, but also 
the direction in which progress might be made when 
co-operation is forthcoming from the Soviet Union. 
My delegation sincerely trusts that that happy time 
will not be far distant." 

8. There is nothing in these words which needs to 
be retracted. Fortunately, there is something which can 
be added. The Soviet Union has, in fact, taken the 
proposals of France and the United Kingdom [DCj53, 
annex 9] as a basis for further proposals of its own 
[AjC.1j750]. Whatever else may be said of them, 
these Soviet proposals do differ-to what extent I am 
bound to say is not yet clear-from the earlier Soviet 
proposals which proved unacceptable to this Assembly. 

9. In addition, the Soviet representative has indicated 
a willingness to discuss proposals other than his own, 
and in fact a discussion of various concepts has been 
going backwards and forwards in this Committee for 
the past ten days. What is unusual about this debate 
is that neither side has insisted that the Assembly take 
a position immediately on one set of proposals or 
another. This is the most encouraging feature of the 
present situation. 

10. Other features, I must admit, are not so encourag
ing. In particular, the Committee has not had as much 
success as might have been hoped for in clarifying 
either the substance of the Soviet proposals or their 
exact relationship to the Franco-British proposals, on 
which they are said by the Soviet representative to 
be based. On the other hand, the persistence of cer
tain fundamental points of difference has been sharply 
etched into the records in the course of what I might 
call the dialogues between various members of the 
Committee. 

11. There are certain elements in the problem of dis
armament which, after all, are fundamental. Two of 

AjC.1jPV.694 



130 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

these which seem most important to my delegation are : 
first, the functions and powers of the control organ 
and, secondly, the timing of the prohibition of nuclear 
and other weapons of mass destruction and the reduc
tions in conventional armaments. I shall discuss these 
points more specifically later. At this stage I wish to 
emphasize that, on these fundamental principles, the 
scope for compromise is limited. There can be no such 
thing as a partially effective disarmament treaty. We 
can only accept an agreement which is as nearly as 
possible self-executing, and which-and this goes to 
the very heart of the matter-reflects a genuine desire 
of all parties, not only to abolish nuclear weapons and 
reduce other armaments, but to abolish war itself and 
to live together in peace and understanding. 

12. In the Disarmament Commission last July, I 
agreed with those who felt that the Franco-British pro
posals of 11 June had been put forward as a com
promise in a genuine effort to make progress, that they 
offered the possibility of a marked narrowing of dif
ferences, and that they represented a major advance 
in the Western position. 

13. I expressed appreciation also of the United States 
working paper on the operation of a control organ 
[DC/53, annex 4]. Although requiring further am
plification, these papers do offer the prospect of a solid 
basis of agreement. 

14. It is gratifying, therefore, that the Soviet Union 
should now feel able to accept the Franco-British pro
posals, at least as a basis for the negotiation. We should 
be clear, however, as to the scope and nature of any 
differences which remain. 

15. It is for that reason that I wish to comment on 
some of the aspects of the draft resolution submitted 
by Mr. Vyshinsky in the General Assembly on 30 Sep
tember [ 484th meeting] and appears in document A/ 
C.1j750. In his statement of 11 October [ 685th meet
ing], Mr. Moch sought clarification of the Soviet 
Union phrase "agreed norms" of armaments. As I 
understand it, Mr. Vyshinsky's reply was to the effect 
that his Government was not posing the question of 
a one-third reduction in its proposals. On 12 October 
[ 687th meeting], however, Mr. Vyshinsky implied that 
his Government had not given up its proposal for a 
one-third arms reduction. Again as I understand it, 
he said that the only other alternative so far proposed 
had been based on the concept of a balance of power. 

16. In the verbatim records of the meeting of this 
Committee on 15 October [ 690th meeting], it is re
ported that Mr. Vyshinsky said the following: 

"We will agree to reduce the conventional arma
ments-which for some reason you fear when they 
are in our hands-first by 50 per cent and then by 
another 50 per cent. Fifty per cent in relation to 
what? Naturally, in relation to the level which we 
will agree upon, which is why our proposal speaks 
of 'agreed levels'. This will have to be worked out 
and agreed upon." 

17. So far as any concrete alternative to the old 
Soviet Union proposals is concerned, Mr. Vyshinsky 
referred only in most general terms to the criteria put 
forward by the United States at the sixth session. 
Obviously, we are some way from agreement. 

18. It is the view of my delegation that unless the 
criteria agreed on are such that the two sets of fifty 
per cent reductions do not perpetuate existing dispar-

ities in conventional armaments, then we are virtuall) 
back where we started. If the only point open to debat€ 
and negotiation is whether a reduction in conventiona· 
armaments should be by one-third or by some othe1 
fraction, there remains an all-important point of dis
agreement. 

19. In addition, I understood Mr. Vyshinsky to sa) 
at the 690th meeting that, as the Soviet Union did no1 
now insist, as it had before, that atomic weapons mus1 
be prohibited first, the old argument that the Sovie1 
Union disarmament plan would leave unaltered the pre· 
ponderance of the Soviet Union in conventional arma
ments no longer applied. 

20. It seems to my delegation that there could be a 
misunderstanding here. Even if the total prohibition oJ 
nuclear weapons does not take place until an agree
ment for the reduction of conventional armaments alsc 
comes into force, any insistence on a fractional reduc
tion in conventional armaments would still leave tht 
Soviet Union with a superiority in those weapons. Thm 
-because at that point nuclear weapons would hav€ 
been prohibited- any such insistence would actuall) 
improve the relative military position of the Sovie 
Union. 

21. May I now comment on the question of control· 
During our discussions in the 690th meeting, Mr. Vysh 
insky also stated that, while safeguards would b 
needed, nothing could be done without a modicum o 
trust or confidence. I am sure that no one would dis 
agree with this as a theoretical concept. In practice 
however, it would appear to mean that we are askec 
to accept mutual confidence as a substitute for certai1 
safeguards which involve a limitation of national sov 
ereignty. In our view, to do this might well weakeJ 
the degree of confidence which now exists, since th 
absence of full safeguards is bound to engender fea 
and suspicion. Therefore, I suggest the best way o 
demonstrating our belief in the existence of mutu:= 
confidence, and of strengthening it, is to accept th 
limitations on sovereignty inherent in an effective di~ 
armament treaty. 

22. We have been considering in some detail the vit< 
matters of control and limitation of armaments, bot 
conventional and atomic. It is Mr. Vyshinsky's refe1 
ence to a minimum of confidence which impels me t 
make the remarks which I now make. Might I addre! 
myself at this moment to those who live on the borde1 
of two great Powers and their satellites. Those 1 
whom I speak may very well be pondering, as th 
debate draws to a close, the question of the elimim 
tion of other forms of aggression-! speak of those < 
subversion. In the urgency of our present problem, 
would be dangerously foolish to overlook the insidiot 
weapons which may overthrow a nation as surel 
although more slowly, than the instruments we a· 
now considering. Let us bear this in mind when v 
speak of security and of a minimum of confidenc 
which I have just mentioned. 

23. I now wish to return to the question of the COJ 
trol organ and to comment on the relationship betwec 
the control organ and the Security Council. My Go 
ernment has, on more than one occasion, emphasiz, 
the primacy of the Security Council in respect ' 
Chapter VII of the Charter. This does not mean th 
we ignore the inhibiting effect of the veto power. N! 
ther, in our opinion, does it mean that the Securi 
Council is the appropriate body to deal with each aJ 



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 131 

every breach of the control agreement. It does mean, 
however, that we must strive to establish an appro
priate relationship between the control organ and the 
Security Council which recognizes the authority of 
that Council. 
24. So far in this debate, a number of suggestions 
has been put forward. Mr. Vyshinsky, for example, 
expressed the view that the control organ could not and 
must not do anything which must be regarded as puni
tive. If this means in effect that the control organ can 
have no powers whatever to back up its decisions, 
while at the same time the veto is fully applicable in 
the Security Council-a point on which Mr. Vyshinsky 
has made his views perfectly clear-the position, from 
our point of view, to put it moderately, is far from 
satisfactory. 
25. Signatories to any disarmament convention can
not be expected to reduce their defensive power in the 
faint hope-I refrain from saying in the illusory hope 
-that the Security Council, as at present constituted, 
will ensure that all other signatories do likewise. 

26. We cannot shut our eyes to the sixty or more 
Soviet Union vetoes that have already stultified the 
majority. The control organ must be authorized to do 
more, surely to do more than merely investigate and 
report to the Security Council. There is, however, the 
suggestion that the permanent members of the Security 
Council might formally waive their veto power on 
questions relating to disarmament. This is a valuable 
suggestion which deserves further study. 

27. This debate has shown that the enforcement 
aspects of the problems of control are of central im
portance, since they raise not only the question of 
ultimate authority but the question of the ways and 
means of exercising that authority. I should like, there
fore, to expand my thoughts on this point a little 
further. 
28. On the first question-where does the ultimate 
authority reside--! do not think there is any real dis
agreement. The Soviet Union, as I understand it, insists 
that the control organ must operate within the frame
work of the Security Council. This is not, if I may say 
so, a precise formulation, but the Soviet Union has 
made it abundantly clear that anything partaking of 
the nature of enforcement-and the Soviet Union ap
pears to regard even measures of a precautionary or 
preventive character, such as the cutting off of nuclear 
supplies, as of this nature-that any kind of com
pulsive measure is a prerogative of the Security Coun
cil and the Security Council only. 

29. The representative of the United Kingdom indi
cated at the 690th meeting that the ultimate sanction 
must rest with the Security Council. The United States 
working paper on control [DC/53, annex 4, para. 4] 
provides that the control authority "should be em
powered to take action as appropriate short of the im
position of sanctions as provided in Chapter VII of 
:he United Nations Charter". 

~6. It does seem to me, therefore, that there is a 
)road basis for agreement, namely that, whatever the 
'unctions of the control organ, the ultimate authority 
)f the Security Council in regard to sanctions must be 
naintained. The real division of opinion concerns the 
'unctions with which the control authority is to be 
·ndowed. Here one may take as a starting point a 
oncrete point of difference which has emerged from 
his debate. 

31. The Soviet representative argues, as I under
stand him, that to cut off the supply of nuclear mate
rials to an offending State, as proposed in the United 
States working paper, might be regarded as a sanction 
within the meaning of Chapter VII. It seems to me 
that such a measure might be regarded as merely a 
necessary and indeed elementary precaution. No doubt, 
however, the offending State might regard the action 
as punitive. 

32. Should such action therefore be subject to a veto? 
Here we must take account not only of the juridical 
position established by the Charter, but of practical 
realities. Since it would be unrealistic to expect a State 
to concur in what it regards as punitive measures 
against itself, or even against its allies, one must 
conclude that the Council voting system is not, for this 
purpose, a workable system-whatever may have been 
thought when it was first agreed on at San Francisco. 

33. So we face, it seems, an impasse--a conflict be
tween the juridical situation and the practical situation? 
We cannot afford to be so passive. Moreover, and here 
I wish without commitment to throw out a suggestion 
for your consideration, I feel that even within the 
present Charter framework a solution can be found. 

34. I note, for example, that the Security Council 
has the power under Article 29 of the Charter to set 
up subsidiary bodies to assist it in the performance 
of its functions. Might it not be possible for the Coun
cil to establish the control organ, as a condition pre
cedent to the entry of the disarmament treaty into 
effect, as a subsidiary organ, and simultaneously to 
delegate to it the functions which it is to exercise under 
the treaty? Of course, this would require the unanimity 
of the permanent members of the Council, but prior 
great Power unanimity is, after all, a sine qua non of 
any disarmament scheme. 

35. I am not suggesting, however, that there should 
be no appeal from the decisions of the control organ. 
On the contrary, the Security Council-whose over
riding authority in matters affecting international peace 
and security my Government has consistently asserted 
-might be the final arbiter on certain specified issues. 
But under the procedure I suggest, the Council would 
be required to act in accordance with the rule of una
nimity to reverse the decisions of the control organ, 
which would have been taken by a suitably qualified 
majority vote; unless and until the Council so acted, 
the decision of the control organ would be binding. 

36. These suggestions, which I put forward entirely 
tentatively and with due sense of the difficulties in
volved in the question as a whole, do no violence, I 
suggest, either to the Charter or to common sense. 
I do not feel, however, that it would be desirable to 
attempt to elaborate upon or to seek agreement at this 
stage on the question of the relationship of the con
trol organ to the Security Council, or indeed on the 
functions and powers to be allocated to the control 
organ-a question on which I do not at this stage pro
pose to offer even a tentative opinion. These are mat
ters, after all, which can best be thrashed out in the 
technical organ specially created for this purpose
the Disarmament Commission. 

37. One point should, however, be made clear here 
and now. Already it has been eloquently developed by 
other speakers, notably the distinguished representa
tive of Peru [ 691st meeting], and I shall not dwell 
on it. The point is simply this : in effect, we cannot 



132 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

accept-! say, we cannot accept-a disarmament sys
tem which is subject to a veto. Whatever the means
and I am sure we have not yet explored all possibilities 
-some way must be found to avoid its application. 
Unless everyone is prepared to co-operate in this 
search, there is a barrier before us which may well be 
insurmountable. 

38. My delegation considers that this debate has con
tributed to our understanding of the points of differ
ence, and-we trust-ultimately to their eradication. 
The problem before the Committee is to decide on the 
best course of future action. My delegation, of course, 
appreciates the reasons for the proposal made by the 
representative of Australia [ 690th meeting]. It is a 
proposal which is based on a desire to clarify the fun
damental issues-a desire which we all share. My dele
gation considers, however, that the exchanges which 
have already taken place in this Committee and the 
further amplification of points of view that will no 
doubt occur before our debate is concluded have clari
fied these points of difference already considerably. We 
shall have verbatim records of these exchanges and 
my delegation has considerable doubts whether it is 
now necessary to appoint a sub-commitee of this Com
mittee to tell us what the points of difference are. 

39. My delegation can also understand and sympathize 
with the reasons which prompted the representative of 
the Philippines to put forward his proposal [AjC.lj 
751]. It does seem to my delegation, however, that 
having at last reached a point where progress is pos
sible we would be foolish to risk receiving-what I 
might call for lack of a better expression-a nil return 
on 15 November. Such a return of nothing could only 
prejudice the chances of complete agreement, the next 
step towards which must be taken calmly, deliberately 
and without fixed dates, in the forum especially created 
for this purpose. 

40. It is for these reasons my delegation agrees in 
principle to the course of future action suggested by 
the delegation of Canada [AjC.lj752jRev.1]. We con
sider that this is the logical step to take. My delega
tion hopes that it will be possible for all five members 
of the Sub-Committee of the Disarmament Commis
sion to join in sponsoring this resolution. Vve are of 
the opinion that paragraph 2 of the operative part of 
this resolution might usefully refer all proposals, in
cluding the Soviet, to the Disarmament Commission, 
and we would hope that this might facilitate agree
ment. 

41. At the end of this address I reiterate my earnest 
hope that in the coming year we shall advance towards 
our goal. It is my belief that, with patience and sin
cerity, the peoples of all nations, and thus my own, 
can achieve their hearts' desire: peace with security. 
Hard-headed realists though perforce we are, equally 
we must not be pessimists. Despair can only result in 
a relaxation of our efforts, and relaxation is a luxury 
we cannot afford so long as the sole alternative to an 
effectively controlled disarmament system remains-as 
I believe it always must-the ever present threat of 
thermo-nuclear cataclysm. 

42. Mr. LLOYD (United Kingdom): I feel that I 
should apologize for intervening for a third time in 
this debate. I have, however, tried to follow a pattern 
in this trilogy of speeches. The first [ 690th meeting] 
was meant to be an exposition of the various papers 
put into the Disarmament Commission. The second 

[ 690th meeting] was designed to ascertain and to clar
ify. In this third speech I hope to indicate the views of 
the United Kingdom delegation upon the present posi
tion and the course of action which, in our judgment, 
should be adopted by this Committee. 

43. \Ve feel that this exchange of views has been use
ful. Certain issues have been clarified. Above all, we 
have found it possible to debate with good temper and, 
indeed, good humour, almost the most important inter
national problem of the day. 

44. I have been criticized for asking too many ques
tions. I am afraid that I am quite unrepentant about 
that. I do not see how else it is possible to clarify the 
position. Debates should not just be the emission of 
cloud upon cloud of words. It is impossible to make 
physical progress in a fog, and a fog of words can be 
just as difficult to penetrate. Therefore, I do not apol
ogize for my questions, nor do l think Mr. Moch 
should apologize for his. 

45. At the 690th meeting I asked two questions. It 
will be within the recollection of the Committee what 
they were. They were not intended to put Mr. Vysh
insky on the spot. There was no catch in them. The 
first question was : 

"Does he accept that there must be agreement as 
to the nature, function and powers of the control 
organ before countries begin to carry out the agreed 
disarmament programme?" 

46. That question was implicit in all our debates in 
London in the Disarmament Commission Sub-Commit
tee because it does go to the root of the problem of 
simultaneity, the idea of simultaneously declaring a ban, 
a percentage reduction and the institution of a control 
organ, and that matter was not clear. 

47. Mr. Vyshinsky, in answer to that first question 
said, in the same meeting: 

"Clearly, we first have to conclude an agreement, 
the international convention I have mentioned. Is 
that not obvious? All these matters will be provided 
for there; the two parties will no doubt propose dif
ferent provisions and there may be differences of 
opinion between us, though I hope that this will not 
be the case. But as for giving an answer now, giving 
some guarantee or assuming some obligation or tak
ing some sort of oath, I say let us wait awhile, let 
us meet around the table and begin our work on the 
convention. Whether there is to be a control organ 
and when it will begin to function will have to be 
laid down in the convention". 

48. I think, from that passage, that it is quite clear 
-although it might have been more succinctly ex
pressed- that Mr. Vyshinsky's answer is "yes" to 
that first question. As I say, that might have been ob
vious to other people before, but it certainly was not 
obvious to me, and that answer has clarified the posi
tion to that extent. 

49. The second question which I asked, as the Com
mittee will remember, was: does the Soviet Union agree 
that the officials of the control organ should be in 
position, ready and able to function, in all the coun
tries concerned before any of the agreed programme 
comes into effect? That question, in fact, is practically 
identical with the question which I put in the Sub
Committee on 17 May [DC/53, annex 2] in these 
words "The Disarmament Sub-Committee should con-



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 133 

sider whether there is agreement on the answers to 
the following questions:". The first one I shall not deal 
with, but the second was : 

"Is it agreed that before the elimination and pro
hibition of atomic, hydrogen and other weapons of 
mass destruction and the reductions of armed forces 
and conventional weapons begin to come into effect, 
the international control organ must be created and 
its officials stationed in all countries concerned ready 
to supervise the prohibitions and the reductions 
agreed upon ?" 

50. So I do not think that a complaint can be made 
that no notice had been given to my question, since 
that document was put in on 17 May of this year. We 
did not have an answer to that question during the 
course of the Sub-Committee's discussions and we 
have not had an answer to that question in the course 
of this debate, except perhaps on the argument which 
Mr. ·wadsworth used yesterday [ 693rd meeting], when 
he asked us to imply that the answer was "no". But 
we have certainly not had a positive answer, and I 
understand that Mr. Vyshinsky really takes up the 
position that this is a matter for negotiation when dis
cussing the nature, functions and powers of the control 
organ-that the timing of the placing of the officials 
of the control organ in position is a matter for dis
cussion and negotiation when going into the nature, 
functions and problems of the control organ. That is 
a position which he is perfectly entitled to take up and 
we know where we are upon that matter; that he is 
not prepared to say "yes" to that question at this 
stage, but that it is a matter to be negotiated. 

51. But there should not be any illusion as to our 
position in that matter. We still hold the view-and 
hold it strongly-that that is a condition precedent to 
any satisfactory scheme of disarmament. It is the essen
tial manifestation of good faith and willingness to 
accept the officers of the control organ in position 
before the agreed programme starts to be put into oper
ation. So much for those two questions. 
52. The present position, as I see it, is this. In June, 
in the Franco-British memorandum [DC/53, annex 9], 
which was supported by the United States and Canada, 
we tried to meet certain of the Soviet Union's points. 
Our plan included specific provision for the total pro
hibition of nuclear weapons. That is something which, 
it had been alleged on previous occasions, we had not 
expressly provided for. I do not think that was a fair 
criticism of our previous draft resolutions, but never
theless we made absolutely clear a specific provision 
for the total prohibition of nuclear weapons. 

53. Secondly, our plan provided that conventional 
armaments and nuclear weapons should be dealt with 
together. It had been suggested before that we wanted 
to have conventional disarmament completed before we 
would even begin to consider nuclear prohibitions. Well, 
I think that our memorandum makes it quite clear that, 
in our view, the two operations should proceed at the 
;arne time. 
54. Thirdly, when the convention comes into effect, 
:hose who ratify it would be committed from that mo
nent to a process ending in comprehensive disarma
nent. There is no question of first having disclosure 
md verification of conyentional armaments before de
:iding whether or not to prohibit nuclear weapons. 
fhat, again, was designed to meet that Soviet Union 
:riticism. 

55. Finally, to meet the point which Mr. Vyshinsky 
-and, indeed, Mr. Malik- had repeatedly made, that 
disclosure and verification was all we were after, we 
drew up this memorandum in such form as to make 
it absolutely clear that complete disarmament, in the 
sense of the prohibtion of nuclear weapons and agreed 
reduction in conventional armaments, was the manifest 
object of our memorandum and our programme and of 
the convention which we proposed. 
56. Thus, in those four ways we tried to meet previ
ous criticisms and comments made by the Soviet Union. 
57. Now the Soviet Union seems to me to have sought 
to try to meet our views in certain matters. It no longer 
insists upon an unconditional ban upon nuclear weap
ons as the first step in the process. The Soviet Union 
does not insist upon percentage cuts, although it still says 
-if I do not misrepresent its position-that it would 
prefer the cuts to be percentage cuts, but it does not in
sist upon that. It accepts the idea of disarmament by 
stages and it has agreed to a first stage of conventional 
disarmament to the extent of fifty per cent of the agreed 
reductions. What is more, the Soviet Union has pub
licly declared that it accepts our proposals as a basis. 
I do not think that that is a misrepresentation of the 
present position as between us and the Soviet Union; 
so I think it is wrong to say that there has been no 
progress. 
58. It is true-and it would be wrong not to say so
that there are many serious problems and differences 
of opinion still to be cleared up, and the matters to 
be cleared up, I think, would seem to many outsiders to 
be of the essence of the problem. 

59. First of all, we have got to try to get agreement 
upon levels to which reduction shall take place. We 
have got to seek agreement covering all the countries 
of the world with substantial armaments, with all the 
complicating diversity of factors affecting their own 
domestic and other positions. We have got to seek to 
reach agreement, covering all those countries, relating 
to reductions in conventional armaments. We have got 
to try to reach agreement on the nature, functions and 
powers of the control organ. Anyone who has listened 
to the debates must see that there are very wide dif
ferences of opinion, and we have had very little com
ment or discussion concerning what, as I ventured to 
suggest in an earlier speech r 685th meeting]' was the 
most difficult thing of all : whether it is practically pos
sible to devise a safe means of controlling nuclear 
weapons and nuclear energy. We have skated round 
that. We have not got down to the practical possibility 
of establishing an effective control organ. Then, we 
are disagreed about the timing of what we regard as 
one of the conditions precedent-a matter to which I 
have previously referred, namely, the positioning of the 
agents of the control organ. So, really it is quite wrong 
to say that we have agreed upon the outline of a plan 
and have only to fill in the details. That would be to 
arouse a sense of quite false security. 
60. On the other hand, we have achieved something 
together. \Ve have, I believe, put ourselves in a position 
to discuss these other complicated matters. Therefore, 
I am not discouraged. I think that the memorandum 
of 11 June was a decisive initiatiYe. I think it gave a 
new impulse to this work for disarmament, and I wel
come the Soviet reaction of 30 September. 
61. Certain questions have been asked about the draft 
resolution of which the United Kingdom is a co
sponsor, the draft resolution originally submitted by 



134 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

Canada [A/C.1j752/Rev.2]. Certain questions were 
asked by Mr. Krishna Menon [ 693rd meeting], and I 
want to make it quite clear that, in answering them, 
I am really answering for myself, because I have not 
had time to discuss his points with the other co
sponsors. I should like to thank Mr. Menon for his 
courtesy in sending me a copy of his questions. I shall 
do my best to answer them, because I quite agree that 
the process of question and answer is the way to try 
to clarify views. 

62. Mr. Menon's first question relates to a comparison 
between sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of paragraph 
1 of the Canadian resolution and sub-paragraphs (a), 
(b) and (c) of paragraph 2 of the Franco-British 
memorandum [DC/53, annex 9]. Both those sets of 
sub-paragraphs really deal with what the convention 
should provide for. 

63. I think that, in both the Franco-British memo
randum and the Canadian resolution, the one which we 
are now co-sponsoring, the draftsmen were seeking 
to find words which would represent a common or a 
general position. Although nothing in this world is 
perfect, and I do not think that anyone would pretend 
that he had found a perfect form of words, I still be
lieve that it will be possible to get an agreed formula
tion of these matters, one which every member of this 
Committee could accept. 

64. The second question was with regard to the words 
"regulation and limitation" which appear in the draft 
but were not, I think, in the Franco-British memo
randum. 

65. I must say that I think the words "regulation and 
limitation" are an improvement on the words in the 
Franco-British memorandum. But I also think that 
we could usefully put in there the word "conventional", 
to make it quite clear to what we are referring in that 
s~1b-paragraph. However, that is only my personal 
vtew. 

66. In his third question, Mr. Menon asked whether 
it was our view that a control organ should deal with 
matters appertaining to prohibition and reductions, and 
no other matters. 

67. I think that, generally speaking, that is our view. 
But I would remind the Committee of what I said about 
the Atomic Development Division in the United States 
paper [DC/53, annex 4] and what I said about the 
relationship of the functions of a control organ to 
whatever body may result from President Eisenhower's 
plan relating to civil use of atomic energy presented 
in 1953 to the General Assembly [ 470th meeting]. 
1 think, as I said then, that there will have to be 
a relationship. But I agree that the primary purpose
and it may be the exclusive purpose--of this control 
organ should be to deal with prohibition and limita
tion of weapons. 

68. The fourth point which Mr. Menon put was the 
suggestion that the drafting of the resolution would 
make it appear that we are contemplating the regula
tion and reduction of nuclear weapons as well as of 
conventional armaments. 

69. 1 think it is right, of course, that in any form of 
words it should be ~ade absolutely clear that, in relation 
to nuclear weapons, what we are considering is their 
prohibition, and that the questio11. of regulation and 
reduction really applies to conventional armaments. 

70. Mr. Menon's fifth point related to the term "all 
armed forces and armaments", and he asked to what 
that referred. 
71. I think that is a very important point and one 
which perhaps has not yet been made clear. It is the 
United Kingdom view that the effect of any disarma
ment agreement should be a major reduction in the 
armed forces and armaments of the world as a whole. 
Naturally, the armaments of the most heavily armed 
powers would be most affected, but some reduction 
should be possible in most cases. I recognize, of course, 
that there may be certain States where present levels 
are low and where no reductions are practicable. But 
1 would recall at this point that it is specified in the 
draft resolution that the whole disarmament programme 
should be such that no State should have cause to fear 
that its security is endangered. 
72. Mr. Menon's final question in this first group of 
questions related to the factors to be taken into account 
in deciding the levels of armed forces, and I agree that 
the factors which he mentioned are factors which would 
have to be taken into account. 
73. Mr. Menon's next question dealt again with 
the differences between paragraph 1 of the Canadian 
resolution ancl paragraph 2 of the Anglo-French memo
randum. I think I have already dealt with that and, as 
I have said, I hope that agreement will he possible 
ancl that we can fincl a form of words which is accept
able to everybody. 
74. The next point dealt with the "control organ" and 
the question of whether that was a technical term, 
whether it was to be regarded as one of the Organs
with a capital "0"-of the United Nations, of which 
there are already six. 
75. I think that the phrase "control organ" was used 
in the Franco-British memorandum not in a technical 
sense. I. personally, do not care whether you call it "au
thority". whether you call it "organization", whether 
you call it "machinery". It was not, as I say, a technical 
term. 
76. The next question is a very important one 
Perhaps I had better read it [ 693rd meeting] : 

"Is it in the minds of the authors of the Anglo 
French memorandum that the control organ 01 

organs-indeed, the whole functioning of di.sarma 
ment--should be under machinery or institutions se 
up under the proposed world disarmament con 
ference. or is it, as we assume, to be part of th' 
United Nations?" 

77. Certainlv, the disarmament agreements woul1 
deriw their authority from the treaties signed by th 
parties, hut the system. we hope, would be within th 
framework of the United Nations. We have alread) 
of course. in General Assembly resolution [ 502, VI] 
directed the Disarmament Commission, "when prepar 
in~ ... proposals .... to formulate plans fm: the esta~ 
lishment. within the framework of the Secunty Cotmct 
of an international control organ ... ". We certain] 
have owisa~ed its being ·within the framework of th 
Securitv Council and therefore within the framewor 
of the United Nations. 
78. Mr. Menon's next question dealt with proposa· 
from other delegations. 1 think that the feeling of a 
those who served on the London Sub-Committee and a 
those who serve in the Disarmament Commission 
that they certainly want what Mr. Menon called tl 
"constructive co-operation" of other Member State 



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 ISS 
and I believe that other countries should have the right. 
and indeed the duty. to communicate their views to 
the Disarmament Commission. 
79. The next question related to an analogy between 
factory inspectors in the United Kingdom under the 
British Factories and \Vorkshops Acts and the position 
of th.e inspectors or supervisors under an agreed system 
of disarmament. Those more industrious than T have 
prepared a long answer on that point, but I shall give 
a short answer. 
80. My own view is that the powers of the servants 
of the control organ should be greater than those of 
factory inspectors under the Factories Acts. On that 
whole question of the powers to be given to the servants 
of the control org-an or organs, I repeat that our view 
is that the ultimate sanction must rest with the Secnrity 
Council, that punitive measures should be taken on the 
authority of the Securiy Council, where the veto does 
apply. But in a completely different category, to be con
sidered separately. there must be a plan for enforce
ment measures. and those enforcement measures must 
not be subject to the veto. 
81. If T were to be asked what an enforcement mea
sure was, I would say this : The inspector must have 
the right to order the man in Mr. Vyshinsky's factory 
to turn the gauge back when that man had been seen to 
switch it so as to make it convert the nuclear energ-y 
from peaceful to warlike purposes. As an enforcement 
measure. the inspector must have the right to give 
orders. It must be one of the provisions of the inter
national treaty to which the government of the manager 
of the factory subscribes that the inspector should have 
the right to give orders. That is what I call an enforce
ment measure. 
82. \Ve then come to the other end of the scale, to 
matters such as the suspension of the delivery of 
stocks of nuclear fuel. W auld that be an enforcement 
measure or a punitive measure? In mv view. it would 
lie within the bounds of enforcement.· Certainly, how
ever, that is a matter which must be studied very care
fully. The line to be drawn between enforcement mea
sures and punitive measures is a subiect for careful 
and, I should think, prolonged negotiation. 
83. The next question I was asked was whether we 
would agree to the convening of a special session of 
the General Assembly, if circumstances required or 
permitted. and whether a provision to that effect should 
not be included in the draft resolution. Again, I cannot 
speak for the Canadian representative on this point, but 
my initial reaction to Mr. Menon's question would be 
that I think his point, which is a perfectly legitimate 
one, is really adequately covered in the General As
sembly's rules of procedure, where provision is made 
for the calling of a special session at the request of the 
Security Council, or of the majority of Member States, 
or of a single Member State with the concurrence of a 
majority. I think that those three possibilities really 
adequately cover the question of calling a special session 
to receive a report from the Disarmament Commission 
or the Sub-Committee. 
84. Mr. Menon's final question was whether all the 
proposals which we are putting forward would be 
clearly within the terms of the Charter. The answer to 
that question is "yes". In our view, the proposals which 
we put forward would have to be within the terms of 
the Charter. On the question of the veto and the posi
tion of the Charter in relation to the veto, we would 
say, I think, that it would be quite wrong for a 

treaty between States to provide that the veto should 
not operate in the Security Council on this or that 
:natter; that it would be contrary to the Charter to 
msert such a provision in a multilateral treaty; but 
that it would be perfectly consistent with the Charter to 
say that certain enforcement measures should be de
cided upon in the control organization by majority vote. 
A treaty providing for that would not be contrary to 
or inconsistent with the Charter, but it would be con
trary to the Charter to have a provision in a treaty 
drawn up between Member States to the effect that 
the veto should not operate in the Security Council 
upon particular matters. That conclusion could only be 
arrived at by means of an amendment to the Charter 
itself. 
85. I have tried to answer the questions which have 
been put. Again I would say that I have been speaking 
on behalf of the United Kingdom delegation and have 
perhaps been trespassing on ground which should more 
properly have been covered by Mr. Paul Martin of 
Canada. 
86. So much for that matter. I now come to the ques
tion of our future conduct. 
87. I hope that a resolution on the lines of that put 
forward by the four countries [A/C.1j752jRev.1] will 
be adopted. I hope that the Disarmament Commission 
will meet. I hope that the Sub-Committee will be 
reconstituted, and I am sure that Her Majesty's Gov
ernment would be very glad to welcome it again in 
London, although it may be said that we have had our 
turn. 
88. There is one point that I would raise in dealing 
with future conduct. It concerns the suggestion put 
forward by the representative of Australia [ 688th meet
inq l, a suggestion which. in my view. was interesting 
and helpful. Speaking only for the United Kingdom, I 
should like to present this idea to the Committee: 
Perhaps Sir Percy Spender's suggestion mig-ht be acted 
upon to the extent that the Secretariat might be asked 
to prepare for circulation to all delegations and as a 
preparatory paper for the Disarmament Commission
and so for the Sub-Committee-an analysis of the 
present position. a factual document without recom
mendations. I think that that sort of analysis might 
be helpful to all delegations, and indeed to the members 
of the Disarmament Commission. I put that forward as 
an idea for consideration. 
89. I now return to what I have already said. I think 
that we have cause for modest satisfaction at what has 
transpired. There are many grave and difficult matters 
still to be resolved, but we have put ourselves into a 
position in which they can be discussed with better 
prospects than has been the case for several years 
past. I think that it is very important indeed to try 
to maintain the momentum, because one day the whole 
operation may gather speed. Our goal is a reasonable, 
practical, safe scheme of disarmament, under which 
countries will feel safer and not more insecure. For it 
\Vould indeed be a retrograde step to produce a scheme 
for disarmament which was so full of uncertainties 
that countries in fact would feel less secure than they 
do at present. The scheme that we want to have is one 
under which a small island like Britain, easily inspected 
and easily surveyed. can have confidence that in vaster 
countries nothing untoward is happening. 

90. My friends. Mr. Jules Mach and Mr. Krishna 
Menon, and others have been so kind as to say nice 
things about me personally. I thank them very sincerely 



136 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

I am very conscious of the help and the friendship 
which I have received in the past three years, and 
from many of those who are present in this Committee 
today. One would not be human if one could prevent 
personal relationships affecting oneself and one's con
duct. I believe that the individual has a part to play, 
so, as I go to other duties, I, as an individual, extend 
to you, my colleagues, as individuals my wry best 
wishe~. But I also pray that you in your collective ca
pacity, that this Committee as a committee, that this 
United Nations as an organization, will so handle 
these grave international problems that suspicions will 
be met, that doubts will be resolwd, that tensions will 
be diminished, that fears will be quietened, with the 
vision before you of a world society, in which true 
peace will be established, not only between the nations 
but also regardless of class, creed or colour, in the 
hearts of men. 
91. Mr. WADSWORTH (United States of Amer
ica): As the representative of the United Kingdom 
leaves us today to assume his new and heavy respon
sibilities in London, I wou-ld like to take this oppor
tunity of expressing on behalf of my delegation our 
especial appreciation of the tremendous contribution 
which he personally has made to this problem and many 
other problems in the United Nations. Mr. Lloyd 
carries with him our very best wishes and our sincere 
regret that he must leave us. together with our warmest 
congratulations on this latest recognition of his out
standing ability. 
92. Mr. BELAUNDE (Peru) (translated from Span
ish) : It is a most pleasant duty for me to associate 
myself with the words the representative of the 
United States has just spoken in tribute to Mr. Lloyd, 
the representative of the United Kingdom. 

93. I am sure that everyone will agree with me that 
he has rendered outstanding services to the United 
Nations, not only by his knowledge, but by his tact, 
his exquisite courtesy and his spirit of co-operation. 
Since I first had the honour of working with him in 
this Committee, during the memorable Paris days, I 
have recognized in him that clear devotion to the 
United Nations and that human quality, that appre
ciation of individual co-operation, which is of such 
value. Accordingly I should like, both personally and on 
behalf of the Peruvian delegation, to convey to him our 
gratification that he has been promoted to a more im
portant position and the hope that in that position or 
in anv others that he may occupy in the course of his 
brilliant career he will continue to be a friend and an 
effective collaborator of the United Nations. 
94. The CHAIRMAN (translated from French) : 
The last two speakers have expressed sentiments that 
<~re ~bared bv the majority of the members of the 
Cl)lnmittee. In any case: as Chairman of the Committee 
and on behalf of its officers, I should like to give Mr. 
Llovd mv personal assurance that I fully endorse the 
words of appreciation addressed to him. 
95. Mr. SARPER (Turkey): I should like to say that 
I associate myself with what has been said by the 
repre~entatives of the United States and of Peru. ancl, 
be.fore the intervention of the Chairman, I was about 
to move that the Chairman express our views, both 
personally and collectively on behalf of the Committee 
and on behalf of members individually. to the repre
sentatiw of the United Kingdom, Mr. Selwyn Lloyd. 
96. Mr. MENON (T ndia) : I should like to express 
the appreciation and gratitude of my delegation to 

Mr. Lloyd for answering our questions at length and 
seriatim. Since this is the last time he will address this 
Committee at this session-and I expressly say "at 
this session" -and since he has made his concluding 
speech, I do not propose to probe into this matter. 
I am happy that he has not avoided any of the ques
tions or tried to give answers which leave me in the 
air. \Ve were very happy to receive them, and I hope 
the ans\vers will be of assistance to this Committee, 
as certainly they will be to us. 

97. If it will not be considered as being out of order, 
I should like to take this opportunity of saying that 
since requests for clarification-they were not questions 
-were made on the basis of the draft resolution before 
the Committee [AjC.1j752jRev.1], and since we have 
had the answers of the representative of the United 
Kingdom, I should like to request that those con
cerned, in the further observations they make, would 
kindly assist us, since Mr. Lloyd quite rightly was 
careful to explain that he was only presenting the view 
of the United Kingdom delegation. 

98. The question about regulation, did not, in my 
contemplation, apply to matters of civilian use of 
atomic energy. It applied to other matters, but, of 
course, we will take that up in debate. 

99. I have already expressed, on behalf of my delega
tion, our sentiments and feelings about Mr. Lloyd. 
I do not like to say too much, because he might come 
back in some other capacity, and I should not like to 
have to withdraw my words. But there is one thing, 
perhaps, \vhich I should add from my knowledge of 
him. The position he is going to hold is of importance, 
and he is going into a situation where this problem 
of enforcement, regulation, and limitation is relevant, 
and his further assistance with regard to the problem 
of disarmament, particularly in this field, will be, I 
am sure, at our disposal in the months to come. 
100. Mr. MATES (Yugoslavia) : We are all here a5 
representatives of governments, and I have had occa
sion to address this Committee [ 689th meeting] in that 
capacity and to express our views concerning the Fran
co-British memorandum submitted in London [DC 1 
53, annex 9] and the contribution it has made to thE 
further discussion on disarmament. But I can assun 
the Committee and Mr. Lloyd that we do understand 
as he has said, that there i~ also a human aspect of thE 
question, and the contribution of the individual, al· 
though he is representing his government, should no1 
be underestimated and that we do appreciate the wor1 
of those who have individually been engaged in makinf 
and offering us these proposals in London in June 
As '.\'E~ are now, in some respects taking leave of Mr 
Lloyd-and I hope it will be temporary leave-T shoulc 
like to ioin in the expression of recognition of hi~ 
persrma( contribution to this question, as well as tc 
other questions with which we have worked with him 
101. Mr. MARTIN (Canada): In view of th( 
observations of the representative of India, may -
take this opportunity to say that the questions whicl 
he, understandably. addressed yesterday to one of th 
co-sponsors of thi~ dr:1ft resolution [AjC.1j752, 
Rev.1] are matters that an: of intere~t and of impor 
tance. Some of them are matters, of course, that ca1 
only be dealt with in nee;otiation and in the Suh-Com 
mittee, if that Sub-Committee should be re-establisher 
However, I do not want to take this particular mo 
ment to add what mav be our views or our interpreta 
tion of a document of which we are a co-sponsor, bu 



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 137 

I think that ought to be done in an orderly way, and 
I would prefer to do it after those who have already 
inscribed their names on the list have been given an 
opportunity of doing so, and also to do it in co-opera
tion with those who agreed to co-sponsor this draft 
resolution. 
102. Perhaps, now being out of order in speaking 
on this point, I could take this opportunity of express
ing the gratitude and admiration which we all feel 
for the constructive role that Mr. Lloyd has played 
in the disarmament debate here and for the outstand
ing contribution which he has made to the progressive 
evolution of the disarmament question during the past 
three years. I should also like to say to him and to the 
Committee that we are at the moment engaged in seeing 
whether what is now a four- Power draft resolution 
will become, as I hope and trust it will, a five-Power 
draft resolution. 
103. Mr. BARRINGTON (Burma): My delegation 
warmly associates itself with the tributes which have 
been paid to Mr. Lloyd. It does so, however, with 
mixed feelings. On the one hand. we are happy about 
his well-earned elevation and offer him our heartiest 
felicitations. But our happiness is tempered with regret 
because of his imminent departure from our councils. 
Regardless of whether we have agreed with him or not. 
we have never doubted his sincerity and his willingness 
to co-operate. We have been impressed with these quali
ties and with his firmness blended with moderation and 
restraint. In short, he has set us an example of what 
a highly successful representative to the United Nations 
should be. We shall miss him sorely. We have little 
doubt that we shall be seeing him here a~ain in some 
other capacity, and we shall look forward to that day. 
Meanwhile, we wish him all the best of luck for the 
future. 
104. Mr. LLOYD (United Kingdom): I strongly 
suspect that a good deal of what has been happening in 
the last quarter of an hour or so has been completely 
out of order. However, I have been very moved and 
very touched by the kind things that have been said, 
and I do express my very sincere gratitude to those 
who have said them. 
105. Mr. Hsioh-Ren WEI (China): On behalf of 
my delegation, I wish to associate myself with the 
other representatives in expressing our sincere and 
deep appreciation to Mr. Lloyd. It has been my great 
personal privilege and honour to work with him on 
this problem on a number of occasions. I think that 
not only the United Nations but the world owes him 
a vote of thanks for his great wisdom, vision and con
tributions. 
106. Disarmament is one of mankind's oldest dreams, 
but its history is the most discouraging. The voluminous 
plans of the League of Nations on disarmament are 
good only for the archives. The United Nations plan 
for the international control of atomic energy, although 
adopted by the overwhelming majority of the General 
Assembly is collecting dust. Disarmament negotiations 
during the past several years have been frustrating. In 
the meantime, the arsenals of the world have advanced 
from the atomic age to the hydrogen age and from the 
age of transcontinental bombers to the age of guided 
missiles. 
107. Against this dreary background came the 30 
September announcement [ 484th meeting] of the Soviet 
Union representative that his Government accepted 
the Franco-British proposal of 11 June 1954 [DC/53, 

annex 9] as the basis of discussion on disarmament. 
This Soviet Union announcement is significant because 
it is the first time in the nine years of United Nations 
debate and negotiation on disarmament that the Soviet 
Union has ever accepted as the basis of discussion any 
specific proposal made by any delegation outside the 
Iron Curtain. I therefore consider the 30 September 
announcement of the Soviet Union representative to 
be one of the few bright moments in the long and dark 
history of negotiations on disarmament. 

108. However, I note that many of the representatives 
in this Committee and a considerable portion of public 
opinion in general received the new Soviet Union 
announcement with guarded optimism, or even with 
skepticism. This is first of all because of past disap
pointments. More important than past disappointments, 
there is an additional reason for skepticism, namely. the 
ambiguities and inadequacies of the Soviet Union draft 
resolution [AjC.1j750] and the Soviet Union state
ments in this Committee. It may be that it is best for 
us all to forget the past, but we cannot and should 
not ignore or even gloss over the ambiguities and inade
quacies found in the Soviet Union proposal and state
ments. Has the Soviet Union really accepted the basic 
principles of the Franco-British proposal of 11 June 
1954? It is the duty of this Committee to find a clear 
and definite answer to this question. 
109. The Franco-British memorandum of 11 June is 
one of two basic papers produced in the course of the 
proceedings of the Sub-Committee of the Disarmament 
Commission in London. The other basic document is the 
United States working paper on methods of implement
ing and enforcing the disarmament programme r DC I 
53, annex 4]. These two basic papers are closely related. 
I understand that both France and the United King
dom agree that these two papers are closely related. 
I also understand that both France and the United 
Kingdom support at least the basic ideas in the working 
paper of the United States. 
110. My delegation supports the principle of both 
these papers. The details, of course, are subject to 
careful study and modification. I believe that a pro
gramme of disarmament based on the principles in these 
two papers will give reasonable assurance and pro
tection to all States. 
111. The Soviet Union draft resolution and the Soviet 
Union representative's statements before this Commit
tee are not encouraging. There is good ground for 
disillusionment. 
112. As I see it, this Committee, in the present 
stage of the debate, should concentrate on these two 
questions : ( 1) Has the Soviet Union really accepted 
the basic principles of the Franco-British proposal 
of 11 June 1954? (2) In what way and to what 
extent does the Soviet Union accept or reject the 
ideas embodied in the United States working paper? 
113. The Soviet Union draft resolution, which is now 
before this Committee, is silent on the United States 
working paper. But in his statement before this Com
mittee at the 686th meeting, the Soviet Union repre
sentative categorically rejected the United States work
ing paper. After severely criticizing the corrective mea
sures in paragraph 41 of the United States paper r DC I 
53, annex 4], Mr. Vyshinsky said, "this document can
not be accepted and we do not propose to accept it. 
We cannot accept it. We propose different measures". 
114. Let us then examine first the present Soviet 
Union position on control. Effective control is the key 



138 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

to any plan of disarmament and, according to my 
understanding, is an integral part of the Franco-British 
proposal. Lack of agreement on control is one of the 
causes, one can almost say the main cause, for the long 
rlearllock in our disarmament negotiations. 

115. In opening the present debate, Mr. Lloyd and 
Mr. Moch asked the Soviet Union representative a 
number of pertinent questions relating to international 
control of disarmament. Other representatives have 
asked questions in the same field. The answers of the 
Soviet Union representative are usually long and in
volved and are often mixed with political propaganda. 
Some of his answers have been found to be quite 
puzzling. Some very important questions have not yet 
been answered. I think the Committee, by this time, 
may be already convinced that. under our present cir
cumstances, a question-answer method of procedure is 
not likely to prove fruitful. Instead of asking more 
questions about control. I wish to single out two points 
of great importance on which to focus the attention 
of our debate. 

116. The first point that I want to emphasize is the 
question of the veto in regard to international control. 
The Soviet Union has made it clear to us that the 
corrective or punitive measures of the international 
control organ must be subject to review by the Security 
Council, where such corrective or punitive measures 
must be subject to the veto. This is a point of the 
greatest importance in anv scheme of international 
control. If the corrective or punitive measures of the 
control organ are subject to the veto, the entire control 
system is endangered. 

117. Even if all parties to the disarmament conven
tion shoulrl agree that no permanent member of the 
Securitv Council shoulrl use the veto on its own behalf, 
such an agreement still would not be satisfactory. A 
permanent member may not violate the convention it
self. but it mav cause one of its allied or satellite or 
friendly countries to violate the convention. A veto to 
protect another country would torpedo any disarma
ment convention almost as much as the use of the veto 
by a permanent member to protect itself. 

118. I realize that the Charter of the United Nations 
does endow the permanent members of the Security 
Council with the right of the veto, and I have no 
illusions in regard to the revision of the Charter in that 
respect. If the veto in the Security Council is to be 
intact, evidently the only possible solution is to make 
the international control organ independent of the 
Security Council. If it should be considered necessary 
to provide a court of appeal or of review over and 
above the international control organ, my delegation 
would consider any proposal along this line. But we 
must not give any member of such a court the right 
of the veto. 

119. In a word, while willing to consider some form of 
appeal or review in the system of control, my delega
tion is deeply convinced that the use of the veto in 
connexion with the enforcement of international control 
would be fatal to the whole scheme of disarmament 
and would even be catastrophic in the case of atomic 
violations. 

120. The second point that I wish to emphasize is the 
scope and mode of inspection. This is also critical in the 
whole scheme of disarmament. If the individual Gov
ernment should have the right to designate the estab
lishments or regions to be inspected or to prescribe 

the time and mode of inspection, the entire system of 
inspection would be ineffective. On this point, the suc
cessive statements of the Soviet representative, put 
together, leave much ground for scepticism. To be 
sure, the Soviet representative has used such words 
as "strict control" and "continuing inspection". We do 
not know what he means by these words "strict" and 
"continuing". 
121. The control organ must have the rights of free
dom of movement and general inspection, by aerial 
survey if necessary. Take a very simple case. Suppose 
a State reports to the control organ military installa
tions A, B and C, but engages in clandestine activities 
in installation X. In order to inspect X, the control 
organ must first secure the consent of the State con
cerned. If that State objects, the control organ, be
sides making recommendations to the Security Council, 
would be helpless. If the State consents, a certain length 
of time may have elapsed so that the nature of installa
tion X is completely changed. The control organ may 
then find that installation X is making buttons instead 
of munitions. I submit that this is a matter of common 
sense. 
122. Of the many points connected with international 
control, I have singled out the veto and inspection for 
discussion because thev are the foundation stones for 
any system of controL' Without general inspection and 
enforcement powers, there cannot be guaranteed reduc
tions, prohibitions or eliminations. 
123. Before there is basic agreement on control, any 
discussion on the question of stages is not realistic. 
But since both the Franco-British proposal fDC/53, 
annex 91 and the Soviet Union proposal [AjC.1j750] 
deal principally with the question of stages, I have exa
mined them carefully for what they are worth. 
124. There are two features of the Franco-British 
proposal that I wish to endorse especially. One is that 
reductions, prohibitions and eliminations are to be made 
only when the appropriate controls for each are in full 
operation. The second is that, with the development of 
the disarmament programme, there is increasing balance 
of military strength in the world and, therefore, in
creasing security for all States. In the first stage, the 
present military imbalance is frozen but is prevented 
from getting worse. By the end of the third stage, not 
only is there to be balance in armed forces and con
ventional armaments but all prohibited weapons have 
been eliminated. This, of course, includes atomic and 
hydrogen weapons. Further disarmament is also envi
saged. The Franco-British proposal, therefore, as I 
understand it. is to build a truly open, co-operative and 
disarmed world. 
125. "Simultaneity" and "continuing inspection" we 
all remember are the two major concessions Mr. Vysh
inskv made on behalf of the Soviet Union a number 
of years ago. So far, the Disarmament Commission 
and its Sub-Committee have not been able to determine 
their true significance. Now they are both used in the 
Soviet Union proposal, and simultaneity now covers 
both stages of the Soviet Union disarmament pro
gramme. The explanations of simultaneity by the Soviet 
Union representative have not cleared up the confu
sion. It is necessary to know definitely whether the 
Soviet Union will accept as a basis the thesis of the 
Franco-British proposal that the control organ shall 
be established and ready to supervise the implementa
tion of a given stage before measures for reduction 
and elimination prescribed for that stage are enforced. 



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 139 

126. Special attention should be given to the second 
paragraph under (2b) of the Soviet Union draft reso
lution rA/C.1j750l. It deals with the timing of the 
prohibition and the elimination of weapons of mass 
destruction and of the stoppage of production of atomic 
and hvdrogen weapons. There is no simultaneity here. 
The Soyiet Union draft resolution provides that the 
production of atomic and hydrogen weapons shall cease 
immediately as soon as a start is made with the second 
SO per cent reduction. Prohibitions and eliminations 
must be completed not later than the carrying out of 
the second SO per cent reduction. The draft resolution 
does not sav that prohibitions and eliminations must 
be completed not later than the completion of the 
carrying out of the second SO per cent reductions. This 
later version. I believe, represents more closely what 
the Soviet Union representative has been trying to tell 
this Committee. 

127. If the reductions in the first stage are percentage
wise. as the Soviet Union representative seems to 
prefer. at the beg-inning of the second stag-e the relative 
military imbalance in the world in the field of armed 
forces and conventional armaments will be the same 
as that of todav or 19S3, as stated in the draft resoltt
tion. Then. T believe. pending further clarification by 
the Soyiet Union delee-ation, that the second stage in 
the Soviet Union dr~ft resolution would make the 
entire proposal practically the same in substance. though 
somewhat different superficially in timing, as the former 
Soviet Union proposals on disarmament, repeatedlv 
reierte<i bv this Assembly. Thus, in my opinion, the 
true significance of the Soviet Union acceptance of 
the principle of stages is also in question. 
128. The Franco-British proposal [DC/53, annex 91 
is not only comprehensive but also revolutionary, as 
far as the traditional concept of national sovereignty 
is concerned. The entire disarmament programme is 
entruste<i to one international control organ. Once the 
treaty is ratified by the prescribed number of States 
and comes into for-ce, the control org-an will be estab
lished and then the process of world disarmament will 
be~:;in. The process of transition from one stage to 
an~ther will be automatic, depending only on the con
dition that the control organ is satisfied with the appro
priate controls for the later stage. Ey~n if the Sovi_:t 
Union should accept the Franco-Bnttsh proposal m 
principle, negotiations on the details would be long 
and laborious. The participating States must be pre
pared not only to make maior sacrifices in their tr~
ditional sovereignty but also to trust much of their 
national security to the international control organ. 
Human destiny, however, demands our sacrifice and 
our co-operation. 
129. I have not dealt with the question of procedure. 
because the choice of procedure depends on the mood 
and productivitv of the general debate. T can say now 
that there is no special advantage in referring the 
problem to a small gr~up. None of the. si::c-Power con
sultations of the AtomiC Energy CommiSSIOn, the four
Power Sub-Committee (Sub-Committee 18) of this 
Committee at Paris, and the five-Power Sub-Com
mittee of the Disarmament Commission, produced any 
new area of agreement. 
130. I wish to reserve my right to speak later on the 
draft resolutions relating to procedure that are before 
this Committee. 
131. Mr. CHOWDHURY (Pakistan): The problem 
of disarmament not only concerns the great Powers 

but vitally concerns the middle and smaller Powers of 
the world. After all, when war breaks out, the middle 
and smaller Powers are hit the hardest and sometimes 
become the scene of war. Therefore, I feel that this 
question of disarmament must be watched closely by 
the middle and smaller Powers in their own interest. 

132. The proposal of disarmament is an offspring of 
the desire of the world to prevent armed conflict and 
maintain peace. Nations decided to resolve their dis
putes through peaceful means without resorting to war. 
Therefore the United Nations came into being, and the 
first Article of the United Nations Charter explains the 
objectives of this Organization. This Charter indicates 
that the United Nations stands for the prevention of 
war and the maintenance of peace between nations. 
133. The most important problem confronting the 
United Nations today is the problem of disarmament. 
Efforts have been made during the last half century 
to explore ways and means to prevent war and main
tain peace. Repeated failures to prevent war have been 
due to the inability of nations to come to an agree
ment to disarm themselves to the extent of the need 
of internal security. Therefore, the peace and security 
of the world depend on the question of disarmament 
to a great extent. 
134. In these days of nuclear weapons, with their 
inconceivable destructive capacity, this question has 
been brought more to the fore. Public opinion in ~he 
world has raised its powerful voice against resortmg 
to armed conflict and in favour of solving international 
disputes through peaceful means. In the United Na
tions representatives of the millions of the world 
gath~r today to solve the pro~lem of disarmament in. the 
interest of peace and secunty of the world. N atwns 
arm themselves much beyond the need of their internal 
security only to make aggression on weaker States, and 
thus war breaks out for territorial and economic gains 
which the aggressor hopes for as the fruit of aggres
sion. Therefore, aggression means war, destruction, 
disruption of the economy and havoc to the order of 
civilized life. 
13S. It is a very happy sign that the great Powers, 
through declarations made at different times, agreed 
that there should be reduction of armaments and ban
ning of nuclear weapons. There have be.en ta~ks of 
such nice agreements between great nattons m the 
past also, but the difference is that the latest disarma
ment moves seem to be making serious efforts in work
ing out an agreement for effective disarmament. The 
report of the Disarmament Co:nmissior: [1/~685] and 
the latest declarations of Soviet Russia mdtcate that 
the great Powers agree on setting up ar; organization 
for the reduction of armaments and bannmg of nuclear 
weapons, but they disagree on the details of the enforce
ment and control part of the disarmament programme. 
The crux of the whole disarmament problem is not the 
agreement among great Powers as to the need of disar
mament, but the type of measures on which the great 
Powers agree to enforce disarmament agreement and 
to prevent evasion and violation. 
136. There had been disarmament agreements in the 
past, and the world has seen that they were paper agree
ments to suit the interest of aggressors, as there was 
no machinery powerful enough to inspect violations and 
enforce obligations of the disarmament tr~aty. _Let 
there be no repetition of those blunders whtch killed 
the noble objectives of the League of Nations and 
buried that noble institution unceremoniously. 



140 General Assembly - Ninth Session - First Committee 

137. My delegation supports the organization of the 
control organ as suggested by the working paper of the 
United States [DCj53, ane.xo 4] and as embodied in the 
Franco-British memorandum of 11 June 1954 [DC/ 
53, annex 9]. It is a matter of gratification that the 
great Powers who were primarily concerned in the 
reduction of armaments have come so close to agree
ment on a basis for discussion. We are happy to note 
that the Soviet Union delegation now finds that the 
Franco-British proposals of 1954 provide it with the 
foundation on which a solid structure of agreement can 
be made. We earnestly hope that it will also, in the 
same spirit of good will, find it possible to agree to 
invest the control organ proposed by the United States 
delegation with the necessary powers to make it effec
tive. \Ve do not think that any real beginning in dis
armament can be made unless a control organ is set up 
which has full opportunities and effective powers not 
only to inspect and report any violations of the agree
ment but also, as far as possible, to suspend the con
tinuation of such violations. It is ridiculous to think 
that there will be real disarmament if the control organ 
has only the power of a newspaper reporter. 

138. \Ve have noted with interest the discussion that 
has taken place in the Committee as to the propriety 
of investing the powers to enforce sanctions in this 
control organ. We have heard arguments for and 
against considering the Security Council as the sole 
body to take action in case of violation of the agree
ment. The control organ, after all, will be an interna
tional body and will not be the agent of any particular 
country. The inspections it would carry out would be 
on behalf of the comity of nations. Therefore, if the 
control organ takes any action to suspend or stop the 
continuation of a violation it has noticed through its 
inspection, it would not be the action of one State 
against another but would be action on behalf of the 
parties to the agreement by which it is set up. 

139. We do not think that this action encroaches on 
the powers and functions of the Security Council, 
which is a political body and to which the complaint 
of one State against another could be taken up in case 
of a threat to peace. 

140. My delegation wishes to express its satisfaction 
at the statement delivered by Mr. Lloyd that the Com
mittee might consider two aspects of the veto question 
in the Security Council. There will be enforcement 
measures and there will be punitive measures. The 
great Powers will have to consider whether the veto 
should apply to punitive measures or to enforcement 
measures. or to both. My delegation supports the view 
that the Powers should find ways and means to avoid 
the question of the veto in the consideration of en
forcement measures and action in violation of treaty 
obligations. 

141. We have been told that there is something called 
sovereignty which will be infringed upon if the control 
organ has the pmver to make on-the-spot investigati.ons 
for possible evasions and violations of the treaty obhga
tions. My delegation feels that the sovereign~y o.f a 
country, in the context of the present world ;,;1tuatl<?n, 
in talking of disarmament. must be compatible w1th 
the problems of world peace. Sovereignty does not 
mean that any country has the freedom to prepare 
for aggression against weaker States, to declare war 
and to throw the entire world into the abyss of destruc
tion. I feel that sovereignty must be in the context 

of the present world situation and it must be compa
tible with the problem of peace. 

142. The middle and smaller Powers suffer the most 
if peac~ is broken or if there is even a prospect of 
aggresswn. 

143. The under-developed countries, in view of the 
aggressive preparations elsewhere in the world, are 
compelled to maintain defence measures, which become 
a great burden on their economy. Little is left for wel
fare projects, as the bulk of the national income has 
to be used for defence purposes. 

144. Therefore, this disarmament question is a mat
ter of life and death for the economy of the under
developed countries, and it is also probably a matter 
of life for all humanity. Let us express the hope that 
the right-thinking nations of the world will group 
together to kill the aggressive nature of the man-killing 
weapons by co-operating in the conclusion of a dis
armament treaty, with effective safeguards against 
violations and evasions. Let the world accept the might 
of right and not the right of might to resolve inter
national disputes through peaceful means. Thus, hu
manity and civilization will be saved from utter an
nihilation, and the man in the street will heave a sigh 
of relief that he will not be further used as cannon 
fodder to humour the wishes of greedy rulers. The 
long-sought-for international peace and harmony will 
accelerate measures for the happiness and prosperity 
of mankind. 

145. My delegation reserves the right to express its 
views on the draft resolutions which haw already been 
submitted or which may be submitted in the future. 

146. Mr. COMAY (Israel): In spite of the fact that 
one of mv ancestors made the first disarmament pro
posal on ·record when he bade the nations to beat 
their swords into ploughshares, my delegation inter
wnes in this debate \vith much diffidence. The small 
country I represent has not atomic or hydrogen weap
ons. and our levels of armed forces and conventional 
armaments need not cause the slightest anxiety to any
one. Crucial decisions must at this stage be taken by 
the Powers which are principally involved in the sense 
that they possess the major means of destruction. 

147. The same conclusion flows from the inherent 
nature of the problems themselves. Take the question 
of control, about which so much has been said. It is 
not being asked of us whether a control organ should 
in principle be set up or not. We all recognize that 
mutual suspicion can only be met by mutual super
vision. This is not a purely technical matter, however 
complicated it is as such. It is larded with subjective 
factors. We must believe that there is a line of com
promise on which the main parties could ultimately 
meet each other ; but with the best will in the world 
that line could be drawn only by an arduous, and prob
ably protracted, process of negotiation across the table. 
For these reasons, my delegation thinks it wise that the 
Disarmament Sub-Committee should be reinstated, as 
proposed by the representative of Canada [ AjC.1j 
752jRev.1]. 
148. This does not mean that we have refrained from 
forming tentative opinions on certain of the disputed 
points. For instance, it makes sense to us that the con
trol organ should be able to start supervising when 
countries start disarming-although, perhaps, it would 
not be fully fashioned at the outset and would grow 
with its task. Precisely because we face states of mind 



694th meeting - 20 October 1954 141 

which are anything but trustful or credulous, the whole 
process of disarmament would get off to a false start 
if it were not properly supervised. The organ would 
have to act not merely as a technical body, but also 
as a kind of psychological middleman. 

149. Similarly, for psychological as well as for tech
nical reasons, we would feel that the organ should 
have great freedom of access and inspection, and not 
merely have to check what may be told to it. In the 
world in which we live today, it would be as well for 
each party to feel that a watchful eye was being kept 
on the others. No question arises here of encroachment 
on national sovereignty, since the rights and duties of 
the control organ would flow from a com·ention volun
tarily signed by each of the States concerned. After all, 
membership of the United Nations is in itself an agreed 
encroachment on national sovereignty. 

150. On the ticklish problem of weaving together con
ventional and nuclear disarmament so that neither side 
should feel that the scales have been tipped against it 
at any given moment, it appears to us that the log 
jam has been broken and a striking advance made. It 
is now agreed that a 50 per cent instalment of reduc
tions should precede the first steps in the nuclear field 
-and it should be possible to produce a sensible for
mula for tying the balance of the reductions into the 
various stages of eliminating nuclear weapons. 

151. I have ventured some preliminary reflections 
on points we have heard discussed, but my delegation 
would wish to see the Disarmament Sub-Committee 
take up the problem again without getting any but 
the broadest terms of reference, acceptable, if possible, 
to all of its five members. 

152. In the circumstances, we have asked ourselves, 
as I am sure many other delegations have done, what 
role the rest of us, the middle and smaller Powers, 
are at present called upon to play. Our Australian col
league has aptly put on record our groping desire to 
help. vVe may not be "principally concerned", but we 
have the painful interest of the potential victim. Even 
if the discussions in this Committee have not settled 
controversial points, they have served a vital purpose. 
For one thing, as the representative of Pakistan has 
just said, they have emphasized that this is not a 
private affair of great Powers. Hydrogen bombs recog
nize no national boundaries and are unlikely to dis
tinguish between great and small, belligerent and 
neutral. 
153. It has become sharply true today what John 
Donne said in the seventeenth century, that: 

"No man is an island entire of itself ; every man 
is a piece of the continent, a part of the main; ... 
any man's death diminisheth me, because I am in
volved in mankind; and therefore, never send to 
know for whom the bell tolls; it tolls for thee." 

154. vVe are only dimly beginning to sense what hor
rors await us all in the event of another conflict. It is 
fitting that at this juncture there should be a public 
stocktaking of this kind, that the issues should be 

Printed in Canada 

clarified, the areas of agreement and disagreement de
fined. And it is fitting that the Sub-Committee should 
g~t back to work, if not with any concrete instructions, 
wrth a powerful moral directive from this Assembly. 
vVhat is that directive? It is, put very simply, a col
lective injunction to find agreement. On each point in 
dispute, one proposed solution may appear to us more 
logical than another-but in the last resort any solu
tion which is accepted is better than any solution which 
is not accepted. It is a situation in which the best may 
be the enemy of the good. 

155. It does not follow that a great Power agreement 
would solve every individual problem in this field. For 
instance, a formula for agreed reductions may not quite 
meet the legitimate needs of countries which are un
developed, or which have special security problems. 
Some method of adjustment would have to be written 
into an international convention; I admit it may be 
premature to worry about that now, but I was pleased 
to note the awareness of this question reflected in the 
remarks of the United Kingdom representative, Mr. 
Lloyd, this morning, when he referred to a "diversity 
of factors" which might need to be considered. 

156. Incidentally, my delegation would wish to be 
fully associated with the tributes and good wishes 
which have gone out to Mr. Lloyd. 

157. In the corridors of this building, one can hear 
much scepticism about the prospect of such an agree
ment, or about the bona fides of those who purport 
to seek it. Such talk is distressing. The best way we 
can help to promote agreement is to believe it possible 
and demand it with conviction. To be defeatist or 
cynical about it is a luxury we cannot afford, for the 
stakes are too high. If that may be wishful thinking, 
it is a risk my delegation and my Government are pre
pared to take. 

158. One realizes what a heavy burden of respons
ibility rests on the Disarmament Sub-Committee. The 
moral pressure upon its members is in a sense much 
greater than it was a month ago. For years, disarma
ment has been discussed in a mood of shoulder-shrug
ging resignation within the Council chamber and pub
lic apathy without. While we are sitting here, the 
climate of opinion has been transformed. This present 
discussion has been carried on in a spirit markedly 
different from that of previous sessions, because the 
possibility of relief from fear is dangling before the 
peoples we represent. A failure now would produce a 
world-wide reaction of bitterness and resentment, and 
there would be a harsh accounting. The rest of us 
gathered here perhaps feel that we have done little and 
can do little to influence the course of great Power 
negotiations, but such a feeling may underrate the 
force of world opinion, which is being focused on the 
problem far more intensely than at any time before. 
Sitting with the five members of the Sub-Committee 
will be a silent sixth: human-kind asking for a chance 
to live. 

The meeting rose at 12.35 p.m. 

A-41889-November 1954-1,950 


